
     

 
All public meetings and events sponsored or conducted by the County of Marin are held in accessible sites. Requests for 
accommodations may be requested by calling (415) 473-4381 (voice) (415) 473-3232 (TTY) at least four work days in 
advance of the event. Copies of documents are available in alternative formats, upon written request. 

Contact the County’s Waste Management Division, at (415) 473-6647 for more information 

 

 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS & SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT 
JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

 
Board of Directors Meeting 

October 24, 2013 
Central Marin Police Authority 

250 Doherty Drive, Larkspur, CA 
9:00 – 10:00 AM 

AGENDA 
 

Call to Order. 
Regular Agenda 

 
1. JPA Board Meeting Minutes from July 18, 2013.  (Action) 
 
2. Update on DEIR and Discussion of Implementation and Enforcement of Single Use Carryout 

Bag Ordinances.  (Action) 
 

3. Update on Zero Waste Outreach and Proposed Contract with O’Rorke Inc. (Action) 
 
4. “Report Card” on Zero Waste Feasibility Study Implementation. (Action) 
 
 

Consent Calendar 
 

5. Marin County JPA Electronic Annual Report Filing to Cal Recycle. (Action) 
 
6. Authorization to Enter into Contracts for Used Oil Payment Grant Program (OPP4). (Action) 
 
7. Addendum to Agreement with ZunZun for Recycling Assemblies at Schools. (Action) 

 
8. Authorization to Enter Into Contract(s) and Use Contingency Funds for Bulb & Battery Program. 

(Action) 
 

9. Novato Household Hazardous Waste Grant. (Action) 
 

End Consent Calendar 
 

10. Open Time. 
 
11. The next JPA Board Meeting is January 23, 2014. 

 
Agendas & staff reports available at:   

http://zerowastemarin.org/who-we-are/2013-jpa-agendas-and-minutes/ 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\AGENDA\13-10-17.doc 

Note: 
New Location! 

The public parking lot in 
front of CMPA is rather 

small, but there is ample 
parking at Piper Park, which 
is adjacent to the building. 

 



1 

DRAFT 

 
MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS & SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 
 

Board of Directors Meeting 
Thursday July 18, 2013 

Marin Municipal Water District 
220 Nellen Avenue, Corte Madera 

9:00 – 10:00 AM 
 

MINUTES 
 

MEMBERS PRESENT  
Nancy Mackle, San Rafael 
Matthew Hymel, County of Marin 
Jim McCann, Mill Valley 
David Bracken, Corte Madera 
Debra Stutsman, San Anselmo 
Mary Neilan, Belvedere 
Garret Toy, Fairfax 
Dan Schwarz, Larkspur 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT 
Michael Frank, Novato 
Margaret Curran, Tiburon 
Adam Politzer, Sausalito 
Rob Braulik, Ross  
 

STAFF PRESENT 
Michael Frost, JPA Staff 
Alex Soulard, JPA Staff  
Kiel Gillis, JPA Staff 
 
OTHERS PRESENT 
Renee Goddard, LTF: Ross Valley 
Abe Lieder, Rincon Consultants 
Kerry Mazzoni, Marin Builders Association 
Kim Scheibly, Marin Sanitary Service 
Kerry Mazzoni, Public 
 
 
 
 

Call to Order: The JPA Board meeting came to order at 09:02 AM. 
 
 

Regular Agenda 

 
 
1. JPA Board Meeting Minutes from May 16, 2013.   
M/s Neilan, Stutsman to approve the minutes from the May 16, 2013 JPA Board meeting.  The 

motion passed unanimously.   

 
2. JPA Response to Grand Jury Report “Garbology.”   
Staff noted that the Grand Jury “Garbology” report is predominantly supportive of the recent Zero 
Waste strategies undertaken by the JPA, and that JPA practices fall into agreement with the report 
findings.  These findings include permitting challenges faced by Redwood Landfill, out of county 
disposal issues related to the Marin County carbon footprint, as well as a waste generation rate 
higher than the national averages.  Staff found disagreement or dispute of a small number of topics, 
including the life of the landfill, the diversion strategies necessary once the landfill reaches capacity, 
and the effect zero waste strategies and Extended Producer Responsibility will have on landfill life.  
The draft response notes that that most recommendations of the report do not recognize the limited 
authority the JPA has related to the recommendations nor does the report provide a 
recommendation implementable by the JPA given its current structure. No public comments were 
offered.  M/s Stutsman, Hymel to authorize JPA Chair to sign and tender the proposed response to 

the Marin County Grand Jury.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 



 

3. JPA Response to Grand Jury Report “Holding the Bag.”  
Staff noted the “Holding the Bag” Grand Jury report is also predominantly supportive of the Zero 
Waste strategies recently undertaken by the JPA, and that JPA practices fall into agreement with 
the report findings, particularly those regarding a Single Use Bag Ordinance.  Staff noted that many 
of the recommendations in the report needed further analysis as they again exceeded JPA 
authority.  Staff fielded questions from the Board and public, identifying that future Zero Waste 
Grant Program funds could be used to fund waste reduction strategies.  M/s Neilan, Hymel to 
authorize JPA Chair to sign and tender the proposed response to the Marin County Grand Jury.  
The motion passed unanimously. 

 

4. Update on Single Use Bag Project 
Staff provided an update on the Single Use Bag Project, stating the Draft ordinance and CEQA 
analysis should be available late fall.  JPA contractor, Rincon Consultants, and Staff fielded 
questions from the Board and Public, noting that due to County Counsel missing the meeting, 
specific legal questions would best be addressed by Counsel at a later time.  Staff noted that as the 
ruling in the case against the Marin County Single Use Bag Ordinance was not published, it does 
not set a precedent for other jurisdictions. Chair Mackle requested a more detailed outline which 
would provide an expanded timeline that would identify steps agencies must take to adopt and 
enforce a Single Use Bag Ordinance.  Member McCann discussed changing the scope of the draft 
ordinance to represent enforcement of the most forceful provisions and have alternatives as the 
less dramatic options.  Rincon Consultants responded by stating that is an option, but the current 
structure will analyze all options and the compounding impacts of implementing all alternatives.  
Members expressed an interest in having ordinance consistency across jurisdiction lines to make it 
easier for residents and businesses to adhere to countywide. No action was necessary.   
 

5. The next JPA Board Meeting is scheduled for: October 24, 2013. 

 
 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\MINUTES\13-07-18.doc 



2 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date: October 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re:  Update on DEIR and Implementation and Enforcement of Single Use 

Carryout Bag Ordinances 
 
Recommendation 
1. Receive updates on the status of the Single Use Carryout Bag Ordinance 

for Marin County Cities and Towns Draft Environmental Impact Report. 
2. Receive information from the County Agriculture, Weights and Measures 

Department on services it could provide to aid with implementation, and  
3. Adoption of one or more Motions providing direction to Staff on the 

implementation and enforcement of single use carryout bag ordinances. 
 
 

F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 131024\Single Use Bag CEQA Update.doc 



3 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2791 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:  October 24, 2013 

 
To:  JPA Board Members 
 
From:  Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re:  Contract with O’Rorke, Inc. for Zero Waste Outreach Services 
  
Attached is a proposed contract with O’Rorke Inc. in the amount of 
$200,000 to further develop and implement a public outreach campaign 
to encourage community engagement in the zero waste goal.  Funding 
for this contract is included in the JPA’s current zero waste budget. 
   
O’Rorke Inc. has been under contract to the JPA since March of 2013 
and this would be the second contract with the firm in the JPA’s zero 
waste public information campaign.  Community feedback from the work 
conducted in the first contract has been very positive and a new work 
component included in the proposed second contract is conducting a 
telephone survey to track awareness/progress of the zero waste 
message and behaviors. 
 
The firm has conducted extensive stakeholder interviews to help design 
an inclusive zero waste outreach message that incorporates feedback 
from the eleven cities and towns, county, five haulers, many franchisees 
your fourteen member Local Task Force and others.  From that process, 
O’Rorke identified a focus of reducing food scrap waste (and composting 
the remainder) as a main message.  This message selection has since 
been fortified by a number of independent national and international 
studies that have identified food waste as the number one problem in 
reducing waste going to landfills. 
 
O’Rorke Inc. was identified by the JPA in late 2012 via a very thorough 
Request for Qualifications (RFQ) process that was sent to 70 
prospective companies – and the firm was selected from a competitive 
group of eleven RFQ respondents. 
 
A subcommittee consisting of Local Task Force (LTF) members Patty 
Garbarino (Marin Sanitary Service) and Renee Goddard (Fairfax), along 
with Alex Soulard and Steve Devine from staff reviewed the written 
responses and selected three firms for interview: 
 



 

 

 
The interview panel consisted of JPA Chair Nancy Mackle, Local Task Force Chair, 
David Green, Nicole Forte from West Contra Costa Integrated Waste Management 
Authority, and JPA staff Michael Frost and Steve Devine interviewed the three firms and 
selected O’Rorke Inc. as their preferred firm to pursue a contract with.   The JPA Board 
authorized the first contract in February 2013 and it is now nearing completion. 
 
Founded in 1984 by Corte Madera resident, Maureen O’Rorke, the agency offers a 
broad range of services to help Zero Waste Marin conduct outreach campaigns.  On a 
regional level, O’Rorke manages all aspects of the Bay Area Air Quality Management 
District’s Spare the Air campaign  where they employ traditional advertising methods, as 
well as community-based and grassroots outreach work, public relations, social media 
and employer engagement.  They have also coordinated extensively with other Bay 
Area transportation and environmental agencies on the Spare the Air campaigns. 
 
The agency has been working on recycling and waste reduction projects for over 20 
years, predominantly in San Francisco.  Their Zero Waste Marin project team is 
knowledgeable about current waste reduction trends and practices. 
 
The O’Rorke team demonstrates a clear understanding about Marin County and its 
sensibilities. They have worked with Marin County’s Department of Public Works on the 
Transportation Vision Plan, with MMWD on the desalination pilot program, and for over 
ten consecutive years with Marin Health and Human Services Department on tobacco 
and alcohol control, specifically as it relates to young adults and binge drinking.  
Through that work, as well as their regional work with the Air District and other regional 
agencies, they display an in-depth grasp of Marin’s outreach opportunities, as well as 
the media and community groups. 
 
There has been a very positive response to this fall’s zero waste outreach blitz – food 
waste reduction campaign.  In particular there have been many anecdotal reports from 
citizens, municipal workers and Local Task Force Members who have seen or heard the 
JPA’s zero waste ads at the Ferry Terminal, on Pandora Radio, street banners, the 
“Green Teas” or other outreach. 
 
Tracy Keough, Managing Principal with O’Rorke Inc., will attend this meeting to brief the 
Board on the recent zero waste campaign and address any questions. 
 
Recommendation: 
Adoption of a Motion authorizing the Executive Officer to execute the attached contract 
with O’Rorke Inc. 
 
PR#10032669 
 
Attachment. 
 
 

f:\waste\jpa\jpa agenda items\jpa 131024\o'rorke contract.doc 

























4 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 
 

Pg 1 
 

 
Date: October 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re:  “Report Card” on Zero Waste Feasibility Study Implementation 
 
Background 
At your Local Task Force’s (LTF) May 2013 meeting, the LTF voted to 
recommend the JPA develop a long term funding and strategic plan.  Two 
weeks later at your May Meeting, the Board decided to address this 
request when more current diversion performance information would be 
available via the 2012 Annual Report to the State.  The Annual Report 
has since been filed is now known to be 75% for calendar 2012. 
 
While not a “five year plan,” in January 2010 the JPA Board of Directors 
accepted a Final Draft of a Zero Waste Feasibility Study.  That document 
was commissioned by the JPA and prepared by R3 Consulting.  That 
document has provided recent direction to this agency in terms of helping 
boost Marin’s awareness and movement towards zero waste.  The study 
follows upon the JPA’s adoption of a Resolution (in late 2006) which has 
the goals of achieve “zero waste” by 2025 (and 80% diversion by 2012). 
 
As noted in a separate item in today’s agenda, Marin is reporting a 75% 
diversion rate for 2012 – short of the 80% diversion interim goal for 2012.  
Given this reality and the fact that reaching higher diversion rates is both 
costly and difficult – it is a good time for the JPA to being a discussion on 
how to refresh its efforts to strive for zero waste.   
 
Following is information on: 

• * Funding the JPA 

• * Diversion Programs Status 

• * Recommendations 
 
Funding the JPA 
Staff does not recommend changes to the funding mechanism for the 
JPA at this time.  While other agencies that utilize a “landfill tipping fee” 
are vulnerable to reduced garbage tonnages reducing income – the JPA 
uses an alternative mechanism in which an assessment is assigned to 
each franchised hauler and transfer station/landfill.  The JPA does 
allocate its overall expenses to the haulers and facilities’ using landfill 
tonnage numbers – but that is merely an allocation method – not the fee 
collecting method.  Using tons going to landfill as an allocation method 
has the benefit of being verifiable (through 

 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Pg 2 
 

Board of Equalization data), encourages diversion, and for Marin is not highly volatile. 
 
Mechanically the haulers and facilities may translate their assessments into per ton 
charges that recoup their annual JPA costs.  That said, the JPA has been monitoring 
developments in the area of resource haulers and municipalities examining new billing 
mechanisms which may levy explicit charges for recycling, composting, HHW and other 
services – versus the more typical, simple one charge “garbage bill.”  Several Marin 
municipalities, including the County as a franchising entity are participating in a Rate 
Restructuring process in which options are being examined to potentially reformulate 
hauling bills to more explicitly show the costs of diversion related services and to 
hopefully encourage waste reduction behaviors though economic incentives. 
 
Staff recently attended a CalRecycle sponsored High Diversion Rates and 

Compensation Workshop which included presentations from Marin Sanitary Service.  
One focus of this workshop was a discussion of “rate restructuring” in which resource 
hauling bills are reconfigured to better explain the real costs of recycling, composting, 
HHW and other services – not just garbage.  Information shared by others on this topic 
included the need to have mandatory service for both garbage and diversion programs 
in place if you are going to explicitly charge for diversion programs.  Another suggestion 
was that is important have established diversion programs (commercial food scarps, 
progressive rate structures, etc.) before truing up the rates with the costs of service. 
 
Diversion 
Following is a status report on how the JPA is doing in terms of eighteen 
recommendations in the 2010 Zero Waste Feasibility Study. 

 
Phase 1 

# Recommendation Status Discussion 
1 Increase JPA Program 

Assistance with Other County 
Departments. 

Partial 
Implementation 

JPA assumed Used Oil program in 
2012, increased funding for sharps 
program and communicates well 
with sustainability programs.  
Improvements in C&D ordinance 
possible. 

2 Increase JPA staffing and their 
role in assisting administration 
of Member Agency and 
Countywide programs. 

Incomplete If Marin is to reach the zero waste 
goal, increasing staff and other 
resources will be necessary 

3 Increase the frequency of 
Board of Directors Meetings 

Complete The Board meets pursuant to the 
JPA Agreement and on an as-
needed basis. 

4 Help with Siting/Permitting 
Processes of a) Solid Waste 
Facility and b) Non-Solid 
Waste Facilities 

Incomplete The County Environmental Health 
Services Division is currently 
reviewing a permit request for the 
Redwood Landfill to expand 
compost operations.  The JPA does 
not have a permitting or regulatory 
role in such matters. 

  



 

Pg 3 
 

5 Support Extended Producer 
Responsibility (EPR) and 
Waste Reduction Policies at 
State and National Level 
 
 
 
 
 

Partial The JPA actively supports EPR 
goals – in particular through active 
participation with the California 
Product Stewardship Council 
(CPSC).  Recent successes include 
Paint Care and a new mattress 
recycling law but failures include no 
movement on a statewide single 
use bag law.  EPR must be 
established for many other product 
categories before local communities 
realize significant cost savings. 

6 Revise Solid Waste 
Ordinances 

Partial 
Implementation 

Improvements to zero waste 
language in ordinances are 
occurring incrementally as 
ordinances are sometimes 
amended in concert with franchises 
updates.    Marin has approximately 
35 different collection franchises. 

7 Revise Franchise Agreement 
Language 

Partial 
Implementation 

Improvements to zero waste 
language in franchises are 
occurring incrementally as 
franchises are generally revisited 
each year for rate modifications.  
Marin has approximately 35 
different collection franchises.  The 
JPA has a model franchise 
agreement in its Toolkit, but is has 
been utilized by many agencies. 

8 Adopt, Enforce and 
Homogenize the Construction 
and Demolition Ordinance 

Partial 
Implementation 

The JPA has promulgated a model 
ordinance that has been adopted by 
some, but not all jurisdictions.  A 
new model is being developed by 
the JPA Local Task Force. 

9 Adopt and Enforce Multi-Family 
Dwelling and Business 
Recycling Ordinance 

Complete This has been superseded by State 
Law AB 341 that requires multi-
family and commercial recycling 
service. 

10 Encourage Consumption and 
Disposal Changes 

Partial 
Implementation 

 

Phase II 

11 Promote Countywide Sale and 
or Disposal Bans 

Partial 
Implementation 

JPA lead on project to develop 
model single use carryout bag 
ordinance for jurisdictions without 
an ordinance. 

12 Implement Wet/Dry Collection 
Routes 

Partial 
Implementation 

Marin Sanitary Service and Mill 
Valley Refuse Service are 
beginning source separated 
collection of organics from 
restaurants. 



 

Pg 4 
 

13 Offer Residential Unlimited 
Services of Recycling and 
Greenwaste Containers 

Partial 
Implementation 

Available in some areas, but 
haulers are looking at changing 
billing structures, which may 
prohibit implementation of these 
services. 

14 Add Materials Collected to 
Recycling Stream 

Partial 
Implementation 

This recommendation is more 
subject to global recycling markets 
than any resistance from local 
recycling collectors taking or not 
taking any particular items. 

15 Add Food Waste Diversion to 
Collection Services 
(Residential and Commercial) 

Largely 
complete 

With the exception of Stinson and 
Bolinas (because those franchising 
agencies want to use a local 
compost facility that cannot accept 
food scraps) all other jurisdiction 
allow residential food scrap 
composting – and more are moving 
to accept commercial. 

16 Implement Food Waste 
Digestion 

In progress The CMSA plant has been modified 
and Marin Sanitary Service and Mill 
Valley Refuse Service are 
beginning training and collection 
service to restaurants. 

17 Promote Backyard Composting In progress The JPA continues to support 
Spring and Fall home composting 
workshop series. 

18 Require 
Deconstruction/Salvage/Resale 
of Construction and Demolition 
Materials 

Partial 
Implementation 

Included in model ordinance.  A 
new model is in development with 
input from the Local Task Force. 

 
There is little to sugar coat the reality that higher diversion rates are difficult to achieve 
and in most cases are going to require higher levels of effort because the “low hanging 
fruit” of more easily divertible materials has largely already occurred.  At the same time, 
JPA assessments only total what is believed to be 2% to 7% of the typical “can rate” 
seen by residential customers, and about 60% of the total JPA budget is a pass through 
expense for the household hazardous waste program. 
 
The JPA has been very thoughtful and prudent about controlling expenses but efforts in 
Marin may be below those seen in neighboring jurisdictions.  For example, at the High 
Diversion Rates and Compensation Workshop it was reported that San Francisco’s 
recycling department expends ~ $2 million annually on outreach and the hauler expends 
another ~$1 million.  This translates roughly into $3.75/person.  In Marin, the JPA 
budgets $200,000 for outreach for more than 225,000 residents translating into 
$0.89/person.  Expenditures by Marin’s haulers are signification but not known.  While 
these comparison can be fraught with caveats – it is informative to note that Marin may 
need to do significantly more not just in outreach but also diversion programs if it is to 
make an honest effort at reaching its zero waste goals. 
 
 



 

Pg 5 
 

 
 
Recommendations 
1. Receive Staff Report.   
 
2. Adoption of one or more Motions providing direction to Staff regarding planning for 

boosting performance in reaching the zero waste goal and appointment of two 
members of your Executive Committee to a Budget Subcommittee (typically not done 
until January) that would also be charged with working with staff to develop 
additional proposals for Board consideration in the next budget setting cycle. 

 
The Executive Committee is currently comprised of Directors Frank, Hymel, Mackle, 
Politzer and Schwarz.  The Budget Subcommittee historically has been the Chair 
and Vice Chair.  The schedule for the Budget Subcommittee and budget process will 
be set at your January meeting. 

 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 131024\Report Card.docx 



5 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

   

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Date: October 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Alex Soulard, Senior Planner 
 
Re:  CalRecycle 2012 Annual Report for Marin County 
 
Attached is the summary of the 2012 AB939 Annual Report that was 
submitted on August 1, 2013 to the Department of Resources Recycling 
and Recovery (CalRecycle).  This is the sixth year the report is in a new 
format due to regulatory changes that were imposed by SB1016.  
Although this JPA tracks both diversion and disposal, the reporting 
system is now solely based on disposal amounts for the reporting year. 
Disposal is compared with historic data to determine if the 50% diversion 
requirement is met.   
 
The Annual Report has not yet been certified by CalRecycle as we are 
trying to resolve disposal issues due to out-of-county disposal sites in 
Alameda and Solano Counties that reported disposal quantities for Marin 
County that were submitted after reporting due dates or simply over 
allocated Marin’s disposal tonnages.  The JPA has tried to work with 
CalRecycle to determine the makeup of 10,440.64 tons of questionable 
material sent to Solano County, but CalRecycle was unable to provide 
sufficient documentation for the JPA to adequately challenge this 
tonnage.   However, based on discussions with CalRecycle we expect to 
have our disposal tonnage modified to reduce the disposal allocated to 
us by 3,796 tons or slightly more for material that was misallocated in 
Alameda County.   
 
Based on CalRecycle’s recommended disposal modifications Marin’s 
2012 disposal rate will be 3.8 pounds per person per day. The JPA has 
fluctuated around this rate since the economic downturn of 2007.  This is 
well below Marin’s target rate for 50% diversion is 7.6 pounds per person 
per day.  As long as Marin remains below the 7.6 pound target all 
jurisdictions remain in compliance with AB939.  
 
Although we exceed all state mandated goals, we are behind meeting 
our local zero waste goals. Based on our generation estimates the 3.8 
pounds per person per day figure puts Marin at approximately 75% 
diversion, below our target of 80% diversion by 2012. 
 
 



 

 

Food scrap composting programs, Construction and Demolition Ordinances and other 
Zero Waste related programs have already begun to curb disposal as the economy has 
grown stronger, but not enough to offset increased consumption.  This report is a good 
indicator that the JPA needs to modify or augment services to help meet the zero waste 
goals moving forward. 
 
Recommendation: 
Adoption of a motion to receive and file report. 
 
Attachment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 131024\Annual report.doc 

 



Summary 

Jurisdiction:

Report Year 

Filed:

Report 

Status:

Submitted Information 

Date 

Report 

Submitted:

Report 

Submitted 

By:

Jurisdiction Contact 

Jurisdiction 

Contact:

Address:

Phone 

Number:

Fax 

Number:

Email 

Address:

Update 

Contact 

Info:

Disposal Rate Calculation 

Definition of Terms 

Annual Report Summary: Marin County Hazardous and Solid Waste 
Management Authority (2012) 

This Annual Report Summary is an official record of your CalRecycle Electronic Annual Report submission, except for 

your Venue/Event section information, which is contained in a separate report. You may reach that section from the 

Electronic Annual Report's left navigation bar. 

Before submitting your report to CalRecycle, please take the time to review everything on this page to confirm it is 

complete and correct. If you need to modify some information, close this window to return to the Electronic Annual 

Report to make your corrections. Then, preview the report again. 

 

Summary Generated On: Thursday, August 01, 2013 at 1:26 PM

Marin County Hazardous 

and Solid Waste 

Management Authority 

2012 

Submitted 

Thursday, August 01, 2013 

at 1:23 PM 

Alexander Soulard 

(asoulard@marincounty.org) 

Alex Soulard 

PO Box 4186 San Rafael, CA 94913 

(415) 473-4298 

ASoulard@marincounty.org 

http://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/LGCentral/Contacts/ContactChg.htm

 

Reporting-Year Disposal Amount (tons) – defaults to the total tonnage disposed in the Reporting-Year by a 

jurisdiction as reported to the Disposal Reporting System (DRS). Disposal contains all jurisdiction waste that was 

disposed in CA landfills, transformation facilities, and exported out-of-state. Any changes will require you submit a 

Reporting Year Disposal Modification Certification Sheet (PDF). See User’s Guide or contact LAMD representative if 

uncertain.  

Disposal Reduction Credits - the EAR calculator will subtract these credits from your requested total in the 

Reporting-Year Disposal Amount field. Requesting credits will require you submit a Reporting Year Disposal 

Modification Certification Sheet (PDF). Descriptions of these credits can be found on that sheet. See EAR User’s 

Guide or contact LAMD representative if uncertain.  

Reporting-Year Transformation Waste (tons) – defaults to the total tonnage of waste sent in the Reporting-

Year by a jurisdiction to a CalRecycle-permitted transformation facility as reported to the Disposal Reporting 

System (DRS). Transformation is factored into the Per Capita rate only, and is not deductible. To eliminate the Per 

Capita credit for transformation tonnage, change the Reporting-Year Transformation Waste (tons) number to 0.00.  

Reporting-Year Population – January 1st estimate of the number of inhabitants occupying a jurisdiction in the 

Reporting-Year as prepared by the California Department of Finance (DOF)  

Reporting-Year Employment – the estimate of the annual average number of employees by jurisdiction in the 

Reporting-Year as prepared by the California Employment Development Department (EDD)  

Additional Definitions - for additional definitions and/or acronym descriptions, see the LGCentral Glossary. 

Reporting-Year Disposal Amount (tons): 180,738.86 

Disposal Reduction Credits (Reported): 

  Disaster Waste (tons): 0.00 

  Medical Waste (tons): 0.00   

  Regional Diversion Facility Residual Waste (tons): 0.00   

Page 1 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



Calculation Factors 

Questions and Responses 

Rural Petition for Reduction in Requirements 

 C&D Waste (tons): 3796.00  

 Class II Waste (tons): 0.00  

  Out-of-State Export (Diverted) (tons): 0.00   

  Other Disposal Amount (tons): 10440.64   

    

Total Disposal Reduction Credit Amount (tons): 14237 

    

Total Adjusted Reporting-Year Disposal Amount (tons): 166,502.00 

        

Reporting-Year Transformation Waste (tons): 34.64 

REPORTING ENTITY QUARTER DESTINATION FACILITY TRANSFORMATION TON

Stanislaus 1 Covanta Stanislaus, Inc. 13.07

Stanislaus 2 Covanta Stanislaus, Inc. 00.25

Stanislaus 3 Covanta Stanislaus, Inc. 13.31

Stanislaus 4 Covanta Stanislaus, Inc. 08.01

Page 1 of 1 Export To Excel Count: 4   

Reporting-Year Population: 254,790 

Reporting-Year Employment: 104,008 

    

Reporting-Year Calculation Results (Per Capita) 

  Population   Employment 

  Target Annual Target Annual 

Disposal Rate without Transformation(pounds/person/day):   3.6     8.8 

Transformation Rate (pounds/person/day): 1.5 0.0   3.5 0.0 

The Calculated Disposal Rate (pounds/person/day): 7.6 3.6   17.3 8.8 

 

If any boxes are checked, please complete, and sign the Reporting Year Disposal Modification Certification Sheet 

and mail, e-mail or FAX to CalRecycle within 7 business days of submitting your report. If you are only claiming 

report-year disposal deductions for waste transported to a certified Transformation facility, you do not need to fill out 

the certification request.

Although you will be able to submit your electronic Annual Report without completing this sheet, your Annual Report 

will not be deemed complete until this sheet is completed and received by CalRecycle. Contact your LAMD 

representative for details.

  Alternative disposalAlternative disposal  tonnagetonnage 

  Deductions to DRSDeductions to DRS  disposal tonnagedisposal tonnage 

 

    Rural Petition For Reduction 

    1. Question: Was your jurisdiction granted a Rural Petition for Reduction by CalRecycle?  

For more information regarding Rural Petition For Reduction, go to Rural Solid Waste Diversion Home 

Page. 

      Response 

Page 2 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



Newly Incorporated Cities 

Disposal Rate Accuracy 

Planning Documents Assessment 

           No. 

 

 

    New City 

    1. Question: Since the date of your last Annual Report, are there any newly incorporated cities within 

your county/regional agency? 

      Response 

           No. 

 

 

    Disposal Rate Accuracy 

    1. Question: Are there extenuating circumstances pertaining to your jurisdiction's disposal rate that 

CalRecycle should consider, as authorized by the Public Resources Code Section 41821(c)? If you wish 

to attach additional information to your annual report, please send those items or electronic files to 

your LAMD representative; include a brief description of those files below. If so, please use the space 

below to tell CalRecycle. 

      Response 

           Yes. There was a diversion misallocation of at least 3,796 tons for Construction and Demolition 

Material sent to Davis Street Transfer Station. The current DRS numbers assume almost no diversion, 

while the facility is certified as a participant in the JPA's C&D diversion program. Additionally, there 

was an increase in disposal in the DRS system of 10,440.64 tons sometime after 5/30/2013 when all 

disposal monitoring reports should have already been submitted. 

 

 

    Source Reduction and Recycling Element (SRRE) 

    1. Question: Does the SRRE need to be revised? 

      Response 

           No. 

 

  Household Hazardous Waste Element (HHWE) 

    2. Question: Does the HHWE need to be revised? 

      Response 

           No. 

 

  Non-Disposal Facility Element (NDFE) 

    3. Question: Describe below any changes in the use of nondisposal facilities, both existing and planned 

(e.g., is the jurisdiction using a different facility within or outside of the jurisdiction, has a facility 

closed, is a new one being planned). 

      Response 

           No response has been entered 

 

  Non-Disposal Facility Element (NDFE) 

    4. Question: Are there currently any nondisposal facilities that require a solid waste facility permit 

located (or planned to be sited) in your jurisdiction that are not identified in your NDFE? 

Page 3 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



Summary Plan Assessment 

Siting Element Assessment 

Areas of Concern / Conditional Approvals 

      Response 

           No. 

 

 

    Summary Plan 

    1. Question: Does the Summary Plan need to be revised? 

      Response 

           No. 

 

 

    Total County or Agency Wide Disposal Capacity 

    1. Question: Based on the best available estimates of current and future disposal, how many years of 

disposal capacity does your county or regional agency have? 

      Response 

           24 

 

  Total County or Agency Wide Disposal Capacity 

    2. Question: If you do not currently have 15 years of disposal capacity, describe your strategy for 

obtaining 15 years of capacity. 

      Response 

           No response has been entered 

 

  Siting Element Adequacy 

    3. Question: Does the Siting Element need to be revised? The Siting Element will need to be revised if 

you have less than 15 years disposal capacity and have not described a strategy for obtaining 15 

years disposal capacity. 

      Response 

           No. The response is based on the ESA sitelife study that was conducted in 2012 and referrenced in 

the 2011 EAR. 

 

 

    Areas of concern 

    1. Question: Did CalRecycle require your jurisdiction to address any areas of concern when determining 

the adequacy of your solid waste planning documents, or any of their elements? 

      Response 

           No. 

 

  Conditional approvals 

    2. Question: Did CalRecycle give conditional approval to any of your solid waste planning documents, or 

any of their elements? 

      Response 

           No. 

Page 4 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



Additional Information 

SRRE and HHWE Diversion Programs 

1000-SR-XGC (Xeriscaping/Grasscycling) 

1010-SR-BCM (Backyard and On-Site Composting/Mulching) 

 

 

    Additional Information 

    1. Question: Is there anything else you would like to tell CalRecycle about unique or innovative efforts 

by your jurisdiction to reduce waste generation and increase diversion, about your jurisdiction's public 

education efforts, or about specific obstacles to reaching your jurisdiction's diversion goal? If you wish 

to attach additional information to your annual report, please send those items or electronic files to 

your LAMD representative and include a brief description of those files below. 

      Response 

           Yes. The Marin County Hazardous and Solid Waste Management Joint Powers Authority is having 

some issue rolling out all of its diversion programs and meeting its Zero Waste Goals due to additional 

reporting requests from the Local Assistance and Market Development supposedly required under SB 

1016. SB 1016 was passed as an effort to reduce reporting requirements on jurisdictions so we could 

implement programs. CalRecycle’s interpretation that there are additional reporting requirements that 

will be compiled into an internal “white paper” seems to have no long term usefulness or direction that 

CalRecycle staff have communicated to us. We have received feedback from our haulers and member 

agencies on the excessive meetings and staff time they have had to dedicate to CalRecycle meeting 

and tours. Additionally, DRS staff contacted the JPA at the end of May 2013 noting that there was an 

issue with increased tonnage going to Alameda County, a discrepancy with the BOE tonnages for 

Redwood in 1st Q 2012, and we have since seen an increase in our disposal numbers for 2012 by over 

10,000 tons since checking the DRS system on 5/30/13, when all reports should have been finalized. 

Trying to address the issues within days on reports CalRecycle has had for almost a year has been 

unreasonable. The JPA must work with other agencies which takes time and resources. Neither DRS or 

LAMD staff have not been helpful in resolving these matters. These innaccuracies not only effect our 

implementation of diversion programs, but also call into question CalRecycle's goal to track data 

accurately. It seems more useful to have the basic data correct before delving into a fact finding 

mission with no integral goal. This new course CalRecycle is taking strains relationships we have built 

with our haulers, cities and towns. 

 

 

 

  

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1992 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1993 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Page 5 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



1020-SR-BWR (Business Waste Reduction Program) 

1030-SR-PMT (Procurement) 

1040-SR-SCH (School Source Reduction Programs) 

1050-SR-GOV (Government Source Reduction Programs) 

1060-SR-MTE (Material Exchange, Thrift Shops) 

Jurisdiction Notes

  The JPA is continuing its program at the Green Point Nursery. Additionally, the County has used its Zero 

Waste Grant to fund efforts by the Conservation Corps North Bay to have additional activities at their 

demonstration garden at the College of Marin Indian Valley Campus. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1990 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1992 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: Yes

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: AO - Alternative and 

Ongoing

Program Start Year: 2000 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: No 

Owned or Operated: Yes

Jurisdiction Notes

  Through the Zero Waste Grant Program multiple member agencies have used funding to contrac with the 

Conservation Corps North Bay to develop green teams to coordinate recycling programs at K-12 schools. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1990 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: Yes

Jurisdiction Notes

  The JPA sends letters of support for Extended Producer Responsibility bills and is an active member agency 

of the California Product Stewardhip Council. 

 

Page 6 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



2000-RC-CRB (Residential Curbside) 

2010-RC-DRP (Residential Drop-Off) 

2020-RC-BYB (Residential Buy-Back) 

2030-RC-OSP (Commercial On-Site Pickup) 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1990 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1982 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

50390.85 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Selected Program Details: Multi-family residences | Single-family residences | Commingled (Single-stream) | 

Glass | Metal | Miscellaneous paper (includes phone books, catalogs, magazines and other paper) | Newspaper 

| Office paper (white & colored ledger, computer paper, other office paper) | Plastic 1-2 | Uncoated corrugated 

cardboard and paper bags 

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1992 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  Take a look at our recycling guide for drop off locations for all sorts of materials throughout Marin. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1982 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

3420.55 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  Automates CRV machines have been installed in 2012 and early 2013 at multiple Marin locations. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1992 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Selected Program Details: Large Generators (4.0 cy/week) | Commingled (Single-stream) | Mixed Waste 

Processing at MRF | Source separated | Glass | Metal | Miscellaneous paper (includes phone books, catalogs, 

magazines and other paper) | Newspaper | Office paper (white & colored ledger, computer paper, other office 

paper) | Plastic 1-2 | Plastic 3-7 | Uncoated corrugated cardboard and paper bags 

Page 7 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



2050-RC-SCH (School Recycling Programs) 

2060-RC-GOV (Government Recycling Programs) 

2070-RC-SNL (Special Collection Seasonal (regular)) 

2080-RC-SPE (Special Collection Events) 

Jurisdiction Notes

  Compliance figures will be listed as a set of 4 numbers for each hauler (# of Commercial entities/ # of those 

without recycling service/ # of Multifamily entities/ # of those that do not have recycling service/) , Novato 

Disposal – 181 / 3 / 177 / 5 , Redwood Empire Disposal – 72 / 0 /18/ 0 , Bay Cities Refuse – 96 / 7 / 62 / 

5 , Marin Sanitary Service - 405 / 59 / 630 / 107 , Tamalpais Community Services District – 20 / 0 / 24 / 

0 , Mill Valley Refuse Service - 146 / 7 (Additionally 6 noted in compliance actually self-haul recyclables) 

213 / 0. Flyers and newsletters have been sent by each hauler that included the CalRecycle approved 

message. Examples of all these have been sent to LAMD staff. The message has additionally been posted on 

cities and haulers websites, or the member agency’s website has a link to the hauler site. The County uses 

CAPRS money to fund collection at the County Fair, since limitations are placed on this money for just CRV 

materials the AB341 message was deemed beyond the scope of the funding. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1992 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  The Conservation Corps North Bay develops green teams in schools for muliple member agencies as part of 

the Zero Waste Grant Program. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1990 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  As stated in my program notes from 2011, JPA staff will not be recording this data any longer. Since this 

diversion is occuring anyhow we will not track it and focus on other programs to limit disposal in other 

areas. 

 

Current Status: AO - Alternative and 

Ongoing

Program Start Year: 1988 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: No 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  Christmas tree recycling outreach is coordinated both individually by haulers and by the JPA for a joint 

newspaper ad and press release. This has occurred for the last 10 + years. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1994 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: Yes

Page 8 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



3000-CM-RCG (Residential Curbside Greenwaste Collection) 

3010-CM-RSG (Residential Self-haul Greenwaste) 

3030-CM-CSG (Commercial Self-Haul Greenwaste) 

3050-CM-SCH (School Composting Programs) 

Jurisdiction Notes

  Many service areas in Marin have bulky item pickups. To get a list of these you would need to contact the 

haulers or review all 25+ franchise agreements in the County. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1993 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

15587.99 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Selected Program Details: Single-family residences | Food Scraps | Yardwaste 

Jurisdiction Notes

  All incorporated cities and towns now have curbside food scrap composting. A small service area in 

Southern Marin does still not have service and will be incorporated into that franchise agreement soon. 

Stinson Beach and Bolinas do not have food scrap composting due to limited permit of the compost facility 

in Bolinas that they utilize. The total tonnage here is for greenwaste only. Although it is comingled in the 

waste streams I have limited the reporting tonnage to not include the 9053.98 tons of combined food/green 

waste that is included in program 7030 notes. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1993 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

2196.17 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  Please see NDFE for all drop off locations for Greenwaste. JPA staff will not restate our guidance documents 

here, we will notify you of any new changes or updates to those documents. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1993 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  Yes, the facilities accept self haul green waste. 

 

Current Status: AO - Alternative and 

Ongoing

Program Start Year: 2000 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: No 

Owned or Operated: No

Page 9 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



4010-SP-SLG (Sludge (sewage/industrial)) 

4020-SP-TRS (Tires) 

4030-SP-WHG (White Goods) 

4040-SP-SCM (Scrap Metal) 

4050-SP-WDW (Wood Waste) 

Jurisdiction Notes

  The Conservation Corps North Bay focuses on these programs when green teams and schools are open to 

providing adequate resources. The County also funds efforts throguh the Green Geronimo Program at 

Lagunitas School District. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1995 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

4873.03 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1990 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  No tire collection event was held in 2012 as no grant was received from CalRecycle. The County did recieve 

a grant in 2013 to host collection events. 

 

Current Status: AO - Alternative and 

Ongoing

Program Start Year: 1996 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

44.46 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: No 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1989 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

98.63 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: Yes

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Page 10 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



4060-SP-CAR (Concrete/Asphalt/Rubble) 

4090-SP-RND (Rendering) 

5000-ED-ELC (Electronic (radio ,TV, web, hotlines)) 

5010-ED-PRN (Print (brochures, flyers, guides, news articles)) 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1993 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

101.70 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1990 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

83115.13 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Selected Program Details: Asphalt Paving | Concrete/cement | Mixed C + D | Rock, soils and fines 

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1990 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  Central Marin Sanitation Agency runs a Fats Oils and Grease program. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1994 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: Yes

Jurisdiction Notes

  In calendar year 2012 the JPA conducted a Request for Proposal process to find a new outreach contractor. 

O'Rorke Inc. was hired to fill that role. They are taking an appoach that focuses on example projects and 

working through community groups but will also be developing ads in 2013 to focus on Facebook, online 

news sites, Pandora Internet Radio ads, electronic newsletters, schools street banners and a website update 

to improve functionality. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1992 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Page 11 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



5020-ED-OUT (Outreach (tech assistance, presentations, awards, fairs, field trips)) 

5030-ED-SCH (Schools (education and curriculum)) 

6010-PI-EIN (Economic Incentives) 

6020-PI-ORD (Ordinances) 

Jurisdiction Notes

  The JPA only had limited post card developed by the previous outreach contractor, the Hive. The newly 

selected outreach contractor will still limit print materials in 2013 and beyond, but will develop mailers for 

new homeowners, have newspaper print ads, and have posters in local libraries promoting food scrap 

composting. The RecycleWhere program was a widget that can be put into a website, but that regional 

program has moved too slowly for the JPA to use it. We are evaluating other avenues currently. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1994 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: Yes

Jurisdiction Notes

  Outreach comes from the haulers, the JPA and the individual member agencies. O'Rorke Inc, will be taking 

a closer look at those various resources in 2013 and develop an outreach plan to focus on pilot compost 

programs and take advantage of the outreach strengths of the different entities involved. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1993 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  The Zun Zun school outreach program is ongoing as is the County's partnership with the Conservation 

Corps North Bay. The County requested an extension on their grant term and the number of children 

reached is unavailable, but other agencies additionally used their Zero Waste Grant funds for similar 

activities. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1993 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Selected Program Details: Franchise Fee | Grant | Variable can rate/Quantity based user fee 

Jurisdiction Notes

  The JPA grant program is continuing although an allocation was not included in the FY 13/14 budget. 

Previous years funds will be used and the term will be nearly the same as the fiscal year from now on. In 

2013 variable can rates will be evaluated by franchisors groups to analyze their long term viability although 

they are already in place in most service areas. 

 

Current Status: AO - Alternative and 

Ongoing

Program Start Year: 2000 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: No 

Owned or Operated: Yes

Page 12 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



7000-FR-MRF (MRF) 

7010-FR-LAN (Landfill) 

7020-FR-TST (Transfer Station) 

7030-FR-CMF (Composting Facility) 

Selected Program Details: C & D ordinance | Mandatory commercial recycling | Mandatory multi-family 

recycling | Mandatory waste collection 

Jurisdiction Notes

  No new agencies have adopted the Construction and Demolition Ordinance in this grant term. The County is 

waiting for new CalGreen regulations and Fairfax may adopt one in 2013. The JPA is evaluating tonnage 

misallocations at Davis Street Transfer Station that affect the C&D programs. this is notred in the Disposal 

Tonnage Modification and Certification. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1993 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

101109.50 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  The MRRC has begun a program with local roofers to drop off asphalt shingles for processing at Asphalt 

Shingle Recyclers in Oakland. This project started as a Local Task Force project in late 2012 but have been 

operating and accomplishing great diverison in 2013. 

 

Current Status: AO - Alternative and 

Ongoing

Program Start Year: 1996 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

108234.87 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: No 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  The Landfill started its pilot Aerated Static Pile composting program. They also are developing an addendum 

to their expansion EIR. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1990 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1990 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

46548.58 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  Please see the NDFE on all facilities utilized. Marin Sanitary Service and their asssociated facilities use 

Zamora, Tam CSD and Bay Cities Refuse use West Contra Costa and the remainder use Redwood Landfill. 

Of this tonnage 9053.98 is combined food scraps and greenwaste the other 37494.60 tons is from the other 

Page 13 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



7040-FR-ADC (Alternative Daily Cover) 

8010-TR-BIO (Biomass) 

8020-TR-TRS (Tires) 

9000-HH-PMF (Permanent Facility) 

9010-HH-MPC (Mobile or Periodic Collection) 

haulers which do not report seperately commingled green and food scraps from other exclusively green 

material. Redwood Landfill also started their pilot Aerated Static Pile system which is under review in 2013. 

 

Current Status: AO - Alternative and 

Ongoing

Program Start Year: 1995 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

13092.12 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: No 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1990 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

25617.56 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: AO - Alternative and 

Ongoing

Program Start Year: 1999 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: No 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1993 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: Yes

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1986 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: Yes

Page 14 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



9020-HH-CSC (Curbside Collection) 

9040-HH-EDP (Education Programs) 

9045-HH-EWA (Electronic Waste) 

Jurisdiction Notes

  Marin Sanitary began mobile HHW collection programs in Fairfax and a pilot program in San Rafael. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1992 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1991 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: Yes 

Selected in SRRE: Yes 

Owned or Operated: Yes

Jurisdiction Notes

  Tamalpais CSD had requested that their info on said programs not be included in general JPA outreach since 

they do not want residents from any part of Marin using their service or being confused by other 

jurisdiction's do's and don'ts lists. In 2013 the JPA applied for a HD20 grant and will be doing a mailer for 

less toxic alternatives and smarter buying practices. 

 

Current Status: SO - Selected and Ongoing Program Start Year: 1995 

Report Year Diversion Tons: 

0.00 

Existed before 1990: No 

Selected in SRRE: No 

Owned or Operated: No

Jurisdiction Notes

  

 

Page 15 of 15Annual Report Summary

8/1/2013https://secure.calrecycle.ca.gov/LoGIC/External/AnnualReport/Summary.aspx?AnnualRepo...



6 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:  October 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re:  Authorization to Enter into Contracts for Used Oil Payment Grant 

Program (OPP4) 
 
Through the State’s Used Oil Payment Program (OPP), CalRecycle 
annually awards funds to local governments to develop and maintain used 
oil and filter collection programs with funding determined on a per capita 
basis.  At the May 24, 2012 JPA Board meeting, the JPA Board authorized 
its Executive Officer to apply for and execute the Oil Payment Program, 
which was formerly managed by the Marin County Stormwater Pollution 
Prevention Program (MCSTOPPP).  
 
Over the past year OPP3 (the programs third cycle) funds have been used 
by the JPA to recycle used oil, institute a pilot Oil Absorbent Exchange 
Program at local marinas, develop bi-lingual outreach materials and content 
for ZeroWasteMarin.org, and to provide outreach staffing for local events. 
 
The JPA has since been awarded $81,267 in OPP4 funds.  These funds 
have already been included in the JPA’s FY 13-14 budget, but requests 
authorization to enter into contracts for execution of the programs.   
 
Recommendation 
Adopt a Motion authorizing the Executive Officer to implement the Used Oil 
Payment Program Fourth Cycle and enter into contracts not to exceed 
$81,267. 
 
Attachment 
 
 

F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 131024\OPP4 Signature Authority.doc 









7 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Date: October 24, 2013 
 
To:   JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
 
Re: Addendum to Agreement with ZunZun for Recycling Assemblies 
 
It is recommended your Board approve the attached contract addendum with 
ZunZun to extend their existing contract for one year and augment the existing 
contract by $15,000 for a total of $30,000 – utilizing already budgeted funds. 
This addendum will allow ZunZun to continue providing musical recycling 
assemblies to schools throughout Marin County. Funding for this addendum is 
appropriated in the current JPA Zero Waste Budget.  
 
This will be the fourth year ZunZun has marketed; scheduled and presented 
musical recycling assemblies to Marin County Schools (Novato does not 
participate in the JPA’s zero waste activities). Staff has received great 
feedback from the schools regarding the performance assemblies. ZunZun has 
presented to over 5000 students and parents annually.  ZunZun’s final report 
for the current contract is not due yet, but enclosed for your review is the final 
report for Fiscal Year 2011-2012. 
 
The insurance policies for ZunZun are in the process of being renewed and it is 
requested you authorize your Executive Officer to sign this addendum pending 
receipt of the updated insurance policies. 
 
Recommendation: 
Adopt a Motion authorizing the Executive Officer to execute the attached 
agreement. 
 
 

f:\waste\jpa\jpa agenda items\jpa 131024\zunzun addendum.doc 

 





















8 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/499-6647 - FAX 415/446-7373 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date: October 24, 2013 
 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Steve Devine, Program Manager 
  
Re:  Authorization to Enter into Contract(s) and Use Contingency Funds 

for Bulb & Battery Program 
 
This program was designed and created by the Marin County 
Department of Public works with grant funding from the California 
Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle).  The 
Bulb & Battery Take-Back Program has facilitated the collection of 
212,000 feet (~40 miles) of fluorescent light tubes, 22,200 CFL bulbs, 
and 52,700 (26.4 tons) of batteries. 
 
In FY 11-12 and 12-13 the JPA Board authorized a $40,000 budget item 
to fund the Bulb & Battery Take-Back Program which collects select 
Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) at eleven volunteer retail and 
grocery locations throughout the County.  This program allows residents 
to conveniently and safely dispose of fluorescent tubes, bulbs, and 
household batteries, while they shop for replacement items.   
 
This program is now in its fifth year, and given the ever increasing 
amount of material collected, the program’s success is apparent. 
Included in the FY13-14 budget is a $45,000 line item to continue 
funding the program.  Staff initially intended to contract with Evergreen 
Environmental who has provided service for the past three years, and 
was awarded the most recent $25,000 service contract, however a price 
increase of potentially 50% has prompted the need to research 
alternative options.  Evergreen has been purchased by Safety-Kleen, 
who now also owns Clean Harbors, reducing the number of vendors who 
compete to provide this service.  Another hauler suited to provide 
service, PSC, provided a quote which would result in a potential annual 
program cost of $90,000. 
 
Given the complexity of the current options, future services for the fiscal 
year are expected to utilize the remaining $20,000 in the budget, and 
exceed the approved FY 13-14 line item budget by $15,000 to $25,000.  
Accordingly, staff is recommending authorizing the release $25,000 from 
the HHW fund contingency line (which currently includes $191,394). 
 



 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/499-6647 - FAX 415/446-7373 

Recommendation 
Adopt a Motion authorizing the transfer of $25,000 from HHW fund reserves to continue 
program operations and authorize the Executive Officer to enter into the best value 
collection and recycling contract(s) not to exceed $45,000. 
 
Attachment: 1. Table of Historical Bulb and Battery Volumes 
 
  
 

Historical Bulb and Battery Volumes 
 

Evergreen / COM Contracts Evergreen Contract #1 Evergreen Contract #2 Evergreen Contract #3 (Current) 

Feet 
of 

Bulbs CFL's 
Lbs of 

Batteries 
Feet of 
Bulbs CFL's 

Lbs of 
Batteries 

Feet of 
Bulbs CFL's 

Lbs of 
Batteries 

Feet of 
Bulbs CFL's 

Lbs of 
Batteries 

                        

34,049 5,917 12,859 34,310 6,393 13,632 49,558 5,584 14,181 15,592 5,584 7,989 

Feet Units  Lbs Feet Units  Lbs Feet Units  Lbs Feet Units  Lbs 

              

6.4   6.4 6.5   6.8 9.4   7.1 3.0   4.0 

miles   Tons miles   Tons miles   Tons miles   Tons 

 

FMBB # 900001268 
 
 
 

 
F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 131024\BnB Budget.doc

 



9 

MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE 

MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 

Marin County Department of Public Works, P.O. Box 4186, San Rafael, CA  94913 

Phone:  415/473-6647 - FAX 415/473-2391 

Belvedere: 

  Mary Neilan 

 

Corte Madera: 

  David Bracken 

 

County of Marin: 

  Matthew Hymel 

 

Fairfax: 

  Garrett Toy 

 

Larkspur: 

  Dan Schwarz 

 

Mill Valley: 

  Jim McCann 

 

Novato: 

  Michael Frank 

 

Ross: 

  Rob Braulik 

 

San Anselmo: 

  Debbie Stutsman 

 

San Rafael: 

  Nancy Mackle 

 

Sausalito: 

  Adam Politzer 

 

Tiburon: 

  Margaret Curran 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date:  October 24, 2013 

 
To: JPA Board Members 
 
From: Michael Frost, Executive Director 
 
Re: Novato Household Hazardous Waste Grant 
 
The FY 13-14 JPA budget allocates $27,792 to the Novato Sanitary 
District to support Novato’s Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) 
Program. Self-haul tonnage is subject to JPA fees (the same as tonnage 
collected by franchised haulers) however, Novato does not participate in 
the JPA’s general HHW program.  This grant allocation, now in its 
eleventh year addresses an equity issue insuring a benefit to Novato 
from fees collected on waste tonnage originating from that community. 
 
This program’s funding is calculated on the HHW portion of the JPA fees 
for Novato self-haul material disposed at the Redwood Landfill.   
 
Please recall that Novato operates its own HHW program and thus does 
not participate in the service or fee collection for the HHW program 
overseen by the San Rafael Fire Department – and operated by Marin 
Resource Recovery Association. 
 
This grant allocation no longer includes a $15,003 annual payment for a 
ten-year reimbursement plan that was devised to offset a past situation 
in which self-haul fees collected for HHW programs were not being 
properly allocated to benefit Novato.   
 
Recommendation 
Adopt a Motion authorizing the Executive Officer to sign a grant contract 
substantially similar to that attached, not to exceed $27,792, following 
the documents approval by the Novato Sanitary District. 
 
Attachment. 
 

F:\Waste\JPA\JPA Agenda Items\JPA 131024\Novato HHW Grant.doc 

 
 



  

Page 1 of 10                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        Rev.20110901 
 

  
 
 MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY 
 
 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT 

2012 - Edition 1 

 
 

THIS CONTRACT is made and entered into this ________ day of___________________ 20___, by and between the 
MARIN COUNTY HAZARDOUS AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY, hereinafter referred 
to as "JPA" and Novato Sanitary District, hereinafter referred to as "Contractor.”  

RECITALS: 
Whereas CONTRACTOR has requested a grant to aid in Household Hazardous Waste services, and  
 
Whereas JPA has determined that it has the capacity to award a grant to Contractor for assistance to Contractor in 

providing a household hazardous waste program for Contractor, and  
 

Whereas in consideration of JPA awarding said grant to Contractor, Contractor agrees to provide household 
hazardous waste services and education to the residents of Novato Sanitary District Service Area as set forth below; and  
 

Whereas Contractor warrants that it is qualified and competent to render the aforesaid services; and 
 

Whereas the parties agree that the award of this grant does not constitute any kind of precedent for future actions 
on the part of the JPA; and 
 

NOW THEREFORE and in consideration of the agreements made herein, the parties agree as follows: 
 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES: 

 
Contractor agrees to provide all of the services described in Exhibit A attached hereto and by this reference made a part 
hereof. 
 
2. FURNISHED SERVICES: 
 
The JPA agrees to: 

A.   Guarantee access to and make provisions for the Contractor to enter upon public and private lands as required 
to perform their work. 

B.   Make available all pertinent data and records for review. 
C.   Provide general bid and Contract forms and special provisions format when needed. 

 

3. FEES AND PAYMENT SCHEDULE: 
 
The fees and payment schedule for furnishing services under this Contract shall be based on the rate schedule which is 
attached hereto as Exhibit B and by this reference incorporated herein.  Said fees shall remain in effect for the entire term 
of the Contract.  Contractor shall provide JPA with his/her/its Federal Tax I.D. number prior to submitting the first invoice. 
 
4. MAXIMUM COST TO JPA: 

 
In no event will the cost to JPA for the services to be provided herein exceed the maximum sum of $27,792.00 

 including direct non-salary expenses.  As set forth in section 14 of this Contract, should the funding source for this 
Contract be reduced, Contractor agrees that this maximum cost to JPA may be amended by written notice from JPA to 
reflect that reduction. 
 
5. TIME OF CONTRACT: 

 
This Contract shall commence on the date this agreement is made and entered into, and shall terminate on June 30, 2013.  
Certificate(s) of Insurance must be current on day Contract commences and if scheduled to lapse prior to termination date, 
must be automatically updated before final payment may be made to Contractor.   The final invoice must be submitted 
within 30 days of completion of the stated scope of services.  
 
6.  INSURANCE: 



  

Page 2 of 10                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        Rev.20110901 
 

 

Commercial General Liability: 
The Contractor shall maintain a commercial general liability insurance policy in the amount of $1,000,000 ($2,000,000 
aggregate).  The JPA shall be named as an additional insured on the commercial general liability policy.   
 
Commercial Automobile Liability: 
Where the services to be provided under this Contract involve or require the use of any type of vehicle by Contractor, 
Contractor shall provide comprehensive business or commercial automobile liability coverage, including non-owned and 
hired automobile liability, in the amount of $1,000,000.00.   
 
Workers’ Compensation: 
The Contractor acknowledges the State of California requires every employer to be insured against liability for workers’ 
compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions of the Labor Code.  If Contractor has 
employees, a copy of the certificate evidencing such insurance, a letter of self-insurance, or a copy of the Certificate of 
Consent to Self-Insure shall be provided to JPA prior to commencement of work.  
 
Errors and Omissions, Professional Liability or Malpractice Insurance.   
Contractor may be required to carry errors and omissions, professional liability or malpractice insurance.   
 
All policies shall remain in force through the life of this Contract and shall be payable on a "per occurrence" basis unless 
JPA specifically consents to a "claims made" basis.  The insurer shall supply JPA adequate proof of insurance and/or a 
certificate of insurance evidencing coverages and limits prior to commencement of work.  Should any of the required 
insurance policies in this Contract be cancelled or non-renewed, it is the Contractor’s duty to notify the JPA immediately 
upon receipt of the notice of cancellation or non-renewal. 
  
If Contractor does not carry a required insurance coverage and/or does not meet the required limits, the coverage limits 
and deductibles shall be set forth on a waiver, Exhibit C, attached hereto. 
 
Failure to provide and maintain the insurance required by this Contract will constitute a material breach of this Contract.  In 
addition to any other available remedies, JPA may suspend payment to the Contractor for any services provided during 
any time that insurance was not in effect and until such time as the Contractor provides adequate evidence that Contractor 
has obtained the required coverage. 
 

7. ANTI DISCRIMINATION AND ANTI HARASSMENT: 

 

Contractor and/or any subcontractor shall not unlawfully discriminate against or harass any individual including, but not 
limited to, any employee or volunteer of the JPA of Marin based on race, color, religion, nationality, sex, sexual orientation, 
age or condition of disability. Contractor and/or any subcontractor understands and agrees that Contractor and/or any 
subcontractor is bound by and will comply with the anti discrimination and anti harassment mandates of all Federal, State 
and local statutes, regulations and ordinances including, but not limited to, JPA of Marin Personnel Management 
Regulation (PMR) 21.  

 
8. SUBCONTRACTING: 

 
The Contractor shall not subcontract nor assign any portion of the work required by this Contract without prior written 
approval of the JPA except for any subcontract work identified herein. If Contractor hires a subcontractor under this 
Contract, Contractor shall require subcontractor to provide and maintain insurance coverage(s) identical to what is required 
of Contractor under this Contract and shall require subcontractor to name Contractor and JPA as an additional insured 
under this Contract for general liability. It shall be Contractor’s responsibility to collect and maintain current evidence of 
insurance provided by its subcontractors and shall forward to the JPA evidence of same. 
 
9. ASSIGNMENT: 

 
The rights, responsibilities and duties under this Contract are personal to the Contractor and may not be transferred or 
assigned without the express prior written consent of the JPA. 

 
10. LICENSING AND PERMITS: 

 
The Contractor shall maintain the appropriate licenses throughout the life of this Contract.  Contractor shall also obtain any 
and all permits which might be required by the work to be performed herein. 



  

Page 3 of 10                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        Rev.20110901 
 

 

11. BOOKS OF RECORD AND AUDIT PROVISION: 

 

Contractor shall maintain on a current basis complete books and records relating to this Contract.  Such records shall 
include, but not be limited to, documents supporting all bids, all income and all expenditures.  The books and records shall 
be original entry books with a general ledger itemizing all debits and credits for the work on this Contract.  In addition, 
Contractor shall maintain detailed payroll records including all subsistence, travel and field expenses, and canceled 
checks, receipts and invoices for all items.  These documents and records shall be retained for at least five years from the 
completion of this Contract.  Contractor will permit JPA to audit all books, accounts or records relating to this Contract or all 
books, accounts or records of any business entities controlled by Contractor who participated in this Contract in any way.  
Any audit may be conducted on Contractor's premises or, at JPA's option, Contractor shall provide all books and records 
within a maximum of fifteen (15) days upon receipt of written notice from JPA.  Contractor shall refund any monies 
erroneously charged.   

 

12. WORK PRODUCT/PRE-EXISTING WORK PRODUCT OF CONTRACTOR: 

 
Any and all work product resulting from this Contract is commissioned by the JPA of Marin as a work for hire.  The JPA 
shall be considered, for all purposes, the author of the work product and shall have all rights of authorship to the work, 
including, but not limited to, the exclusive right to use, publish, reproduce, copy and make derivative use of, the work 
product or otherwise grant others limited rights to use the work product.  
 
To the extent Contractor incorporates into the work product any pre-existing work product owned by Contractor, Contractor 
hereby acknowledges and agrees that ownership of such work product shall be transferred to the JPA. 

 
13. TERMINATION: 

 

A. If the Contractor fails to provide in any manner the services required under this Contract or otherwise fails to 
comply with the terms of this Contract or violates any ordinance, regulation or other law which applies to its 
performance herein, the JPA may terminate this Contract by giving five (5) calendar days written notice to the 
party involved. 
 

B. The Contractor shall be excused for failure to perform services herein if such services are prevented by acts of 
God, strikes, labor disputes or other forces over which the Contractor has no control. 

 
C. Either party hereto may terminate this Contract for any reason by giving thirty (30) calendar days written notice 

to the other parties.  Notice of termination shall be by written notice to the other parties and be sent by 
registered mail. 

 
D. In the event of termination not the fault of the Contractor, the Contractor shall be paid for services performed to 

the date of termination in accordance with the terms of this Contract so long as proof of required insurance is 
provided for the periods covered in the Contract or Amendment(s). 

 
14. APPROPRIATIONS: 

 
The JPA's performance and obligation to pay under this Contract is contingent upon an annual appropriation by the Marin 
JPA Board, the State of California or other third party.  Should the funds not be appropriated JPA may terminate this 
Contract with respect to those payments for which such funds are not appropriated.  JPA will give Contractor thirty (30) 
days’ written notice of such termination.  All obligations of JPA to make payments after the termination date will cease. 
 
Where the funding source for this Contract is contingent upon an annual appropriation or grant from the Marin JPA Board, 
the State of California or other third party, JPA's performance and obligation to pay under this Contract is limited by the 
availability of those funds.  Should the funding source for this Contract be eliminated or reduced, upon written notice to 
Contractor, JPA may reduce the Maximum Cost to JPA identified in section 4 to reflect that elimination or reduction. 
 
15. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES: 

 

It is expressly understood that in the performance of the services herein, the Contractor, and the agents and employees 
thereof, shall act in an independent capacity and as an independent Contractor and not as officers, employees or agents of 
the JPA.  Contractor shall be solely responsible to pay all required taxes, including but not limited to, all withholding social 
security, and workers’ compensation. 



  

Page 4 of 10                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        Rev.20110901 
 

 
16. AMENDMENT: 

 
This Contract may be amended or modified only by written Contract of all parties. 
 

17. ASSIGNMENT OF PERSONNEL: 

 
The Contractor shall not substitute any personnel for those specifically named in its proposal unless personnel with 
substantially equal or better qualifications and experience are provided, acceptable to JPA, as is evidenced in writing. 

 
18. JURISDICTION AND VENUE: 

 
This Contract shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California and the parties hereto agree that 
venue shall be in Marin JPA, California. 

 
19. INDEMNIFICATION: 

 
Contractor agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold JPA, its employees, officers, and agents, harmless from any and all 
liabilities including, but not limited to, litigation costs and attorney’s fees arising from any and all claims and losses to 
anyone who may be injured or damaged by reason of Contractor’s negligence, recklessness or willful misconduct in the 
performance of this Contract.  
 
20. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS: 

 
The Contractor shall comply with any and all Federal, State and local laws and resolutions: including, but not limited to the 
JPA of Marin Nuclear Free Zone, Living Wage Ordinance, and Board of Supervisors Resolution #2005-97 prohibiting the 
off-shoring of professional services involving employee/retiree medical and financial data affecting services covered by this 
Contract. Copies of any of the above-referenced local laws and resolutions may be secured from the Contract Manager 
referenced in section 21. In addition, the following NOTICES may apply: 
 

1.  Pursuant to California Franchise Tax Board regulations, JPA will automatically withhold 7% from all 
payments made to vendors who are non-residents of California.   
 

2.  Contractor agrees to meet all applicable program access and physical accessibility requirements under 
State and Federal laws as may apply to services, programs or activities for the benefit of the public. 

 
3.  For Contracts involving any State or Federal grant funds, Exhibit D must be attached.  Exhibit D shall 

consist of the printout results obtained by search of the System for Award Management at www.sam.gov. 
 

Exhibit D - Debarment Certification 
 

By signing and submitting this Contract, the Contractor is agreeing to abide by the debarment requirements as 
set out below. 

 
• The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact relied upon by JPA.   

 
• The Contractor shall provide immediate written notice to JPA if at any time the Contractor learns that its 

certification was erroneous or has become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances.   
 

• Contractor certifies that none of its principals, affiliates, agents, representatives or contractors are excluded, 
disqualified or ineligible for the award of contracts by any Federal agency and Contractor further certifies to the 
best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its principals: 

 
• Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily 

excluded by any Federal Department or Agency; 
 
• Have not been convicted within the preceding three-years of any of the offenses listed in 2 CFR 

180.800(a) or had a civil judgment rendered against it for one of those offenses within that time period; 
 

• Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity 
(Federal, State, or Local) with commission of any of the offenses listed in 2 CFR 180.800(a); 

 



  

Page 5 of 10                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        Rev.20110901 
 

• Have not had one or more public transactions (Federal, State, or Local) terminated within the 
preceding three-years for cause or default. 

 
• The Contractor agrees by signing this Contract that it will not knowingly enter into any subcontract or covered 

transaction with a person who is proposed for debarment, debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from participation in this covered transaction. 

 
• Any subcontractor will provide a debarment certification that includes the debarment clause as noted in 

preceding bullets above, without modification. 
 
21. NOTICES: 

 
This Contract shall be managed and administered on JPA’s behalf by the Department Contract Manager named below.  All 
invoices shall be submitted and approved by this Department and all notices shall be given to JPA at the following location: 

 
Contract Manager:  

 
Steve Devine, Program Manager 

 
Dept./Location:  

      
Department of Public Works, Waste Mgmt. Div. 
899 Northgate Ave, Ste 100 
San Rafael, CA  94903 
 

 
Telephone No.: 

 
415.473.6647 

 
Notices shall be given to Contractor at the following address: 
 

Contractor: Novato Sanitary District 

 
Address:  

Beverly James, General Manager 
500 Davidson St. 
Novato, CA  94945 

 
Telephone No.: 

 
415.892.1694 

 

22.  ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF EXHIBITS 

 

  Check applicable Exhibits CONTRACTOR’S 

INITIALS 

 

EXHIBIT A. 

 

 

 

Scope of Services 

 

 

EXHIBIT B. 

 

 

 

Fees and Payment 

 

 

EXHIBIT C. 

 

 

 

Insurance Reduction/Waiver 

 

 

EXHIBIT D. 

 

 

 

Contractor’s Debarment Certification 

 

 

EXHIBIT E. 

 

 

 

Subcontractor’s Debarment Certification 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Contract on the date first above written. 
 
CONTRACTOR:  APPROVED BY JPA: 

By:  __________________________________   

Name:  _______________________________ 
Title:  ________________________________  By:__________________________________  
         Executive Officer 

 
JPA COUNSEL REVIEW AND APPROVAL (required if template content has been modified) 

 
JPA Counsel: _______________________________________  Date: ____________________________________ 



  

Page 6 of 10  

EXHIBIT “A” 

SCOPE OF SERVICES (required) 

 

GRANT SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY CONTRACTOR 
 

 

Grant funds shall be used only to supplement or expand Novato Sanitary District’s Household 

Hazardous Waste program by providing permanent collection opportunities, with corresponding and 

effective publicity campaigns.  Activities should complement Marin’s Regional Household Hazardous 

Waste Program.   

 
REPORTING 
The CONTRACTOR shall submit to JPA Staff no later than July 16, 2014 a Final Report which will 

provide an accounting of grant expenses and activities incurred during the contract term.  This report 

shall minimally include the following information: 

 
• A description of how JPA grant funds were used to supplement and further the 

CONTRACTOR’s existing program. 
• An evaluation of the programs goals and objectives. 
• A detail of the Grant budget, including an expenditure itemization. 
• Volume of material collected (recycled and disposed). 
• Program residential participation rates. 
• CESQG (Conditionally Exempt Small Quantity Generator) participation rates. 
• Public awareness activities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

Page 7 of 10  

EXHIBIT “B” 

FEES AND PAYMENT SCHEDULE (required) 

 

COMPENSATION OR FEES TO BE PAID TO CONTRACTOR 
 
 

GRANT TERM 
The term of the grant shall commence on date this Agreement is entered into on first page, and shall 
terminate on the date identified on page 1.  All costs must be incurred during the grant term. 
 
GRANT FUNDING 
Grant funds shall be used only to supplement or expand Novato Sanitary District’s Household 
Hazardous Waste program by providing permanent collection opportunities, with corresponding and 
effective publicity campaigns.  Activities should complement Marin’s Regional Household Hazardous 
Waste Program.   
 
ELIGIBLE COSTS 
All costs must be directly related to the development and/or management of the approved grant 
project.  Such costs may include materials, services, equipment, and facilities that increase 
opportunities for the proper collection and management of unwanted household hazardous products 
provided that they are reasonable, cost-effective, and focused on local and/or Marin County Region 
wide needs.   
 
PAYMENT OF GRANT FUNDS 
Grant funds , identified on page 1, will be paid as JPA revenue become available.  Additionally, 
notwithstanding any other provisions of this agreement, the JPA’s obligations under this Contract are 
contingent upon and subject to the availability of funds for this grant 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

Page 8 of 10  

EXHIBIT “C” 

 

INSURANCE REDUCTION/WAIVER (if applicable) 

 

 

 

CONTRACTOR:  Novato Sanitary District 

 

CONTRACT TITLE:  

 

This statement shall accompany all requests for a reduction/waiver of insurance requirements.  Please check the box if a waiver is 

requested or fill in the reduced coverage(s) where indicated below: 

 

 Check 

Where 

Applicable  

Requested Limit 

Amount 

CAO  

Use 

Only 

 

General Liability Insurance  

 

 

 

$      

 

 

Automobile Liability Insurance 

 

 

 

$1,000,000 

 

 

Workers’ Compensation Insurance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Professional Liability Deductible 

 

 

 

$      

 

 

Please set forth the reasons for the requested reductions or waiver.   

 

Professional liability is not required for this type of service. 

 

      

 

      

 

      

 

 

Contract  Manager Signature: 

 

 

Date:  

 

      

 

Extension: 

 

      

 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 



  

Page 9 of 10  

EXHIBIT D 
 

DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION FOR CONTRACTORS 
(Attach EPLS Printout) 

 
 



  

Page 10 of 10  

EXHIBIT E 
 

DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION FOR SUBCONTRACTORS 
(Attach EPLS Printout) 

 
 

 



.org

See other side for convenient
used oil recycling locations

Vea el reverso para conocer convenientes
sitios de reciclaje de aceite usado

Recycling is the only 
legal way to 

dispose of used 
motor oil & filters
El reciclaje es la única manera legal de 
eliminación de aceite de motor usado y filtrosRECYCLE IT!¡Recíclelo!



www.ZeroWasteMarin.org

For more information and resources for recycling 
many other materials,

D & K Auto Services 
34 Corte Madera Ave, Corte Madera; (415) 924-3510

Jiffy Lube #655
374 Miller Ave, Mill Valley; (415) 383-6416

Bracken Auto Service 
11401 St Rte 1, Point Reyes Station; (415) 663-0633

Marin HHW Facility
565 Jacoby Street, San Rafael, (415) 485-6806

R A B Motors 
540 Francisco Blvd, West, San Rafael; (415) 455-5535

Heynneman European
1105 E Francisco Blvd #6, San Rafael; (415) 499-1234

O’Reilly Autoparts #4146
75 Bellam Blvd, San Rafael; (415) 454-5881

Pennzoil 10-Minute Oil Change
1524 2nd Street, San Rafael; (415) 457-5823

O’Reilly Autoparts #4150
1323 2nd Street, San Rafael; (415) 454-2963

Pennzoil 10-Minute Oil Change
908 Diablo Ave, Novato; (415) 898-5823

Novato Recycling
7576 Redwood Highway, Novato; (415) 897-4177

Oil Changer #626
133 Vintage Way, Novato; (925) 734-5816

Ron Cromwell Chevron Service
1549 S Novato Blvd, Novato; (415) 892-5393

O’Reilly Autoparts #0499
1400 S Novato Blvd, Novato; (415) 897-5338

RECYCLE USED OIL & FILTERS 
AT THESE LOCATIONS

MARIN COUNTY COLLECTION SITES
IT’S FREE!

¡ES GRATIS!

RECICLE EL 
ACEITE Y FILTROS 
USADOS EN LOS 

SIGUIENTES 
SITIOS

Para obtener más información y 
recursos para el reciclaje de otros 

materiales,

www.ZeroWasteMarin.org

o llame al 1-800-280-6208 para 
obtener información en español

SITIOS DE RECOLECCIÓN EN 
EL CONDADO DE MARIN

Printed on 100% post-consumer recycled paper

RECYCLING 
IS THE ONLY 

LEGAL WAY TO 
DISPOSE OF 

USED MOTOR 
OIL & FILTERS

EL RECICLAJE 
ES LA ÚNICA 

MANERA LEGAL DE 
ELIMINACIÓN DE 

ACEITE DE MOTOR 
USADO Y FILTROS



Find 
a location 
near you.

ABSORB IT!¡Absorberlo!


	Agenda
	Minutes
	Item 2
	Item 3
	Item 3 Attach_A
	Item 4
	Item 5
	Item 5 Attach_A
	Item 6
	Item 6 Attach_A
	Documents_45_20132013_972_SignedUsedOilPaymentProgramAwards

	Item 7
	Item 7 Attach_A
	Item 7 Attach_B
	Item 8
	Item 9
	item 9 Attach_A
	OPP3 8.5x5.5 Handout
	OPP3 Marina button


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


